## THE BECKMAN CENTER FOR THE HISTORY OF CHEMISTRY

ERNEST H. VOLWILER

Transcript of an Interview Conducted by

James J. Bohning

in

Lake Forest, Illinois

on

18 August 1986

Dr. Ernest H. Volwiler

### THE BECKMAN CENTER FOR THE HISTORY OF CHEMISTRY

### Oral History Program

#### RELEASE FORM

This document contains my understanding and agreement with the Beckman Center for the History of Chemistry with respect to my participation in a tape-recorded interview conducted by Dr. J. J. Bohning **on** 18 August 1986 I have read the transcript supplied by the Beckman Center and returned it with my corrections and emendations.

- 1. The tapes and corrected transcript (collectively called the "Work") will be maintained by the Beckman Center and made available in accordance with general policies for research and other scholarly purposes.
- 2. I hereby grant, assign, and transfer to the Beckman Center all right, title, and interest in the Work, including the literary rights and the copyright, except that I shall retain the right to copy, use and publish the Work in part or in full until my death.
- 3. The manuscript may be read and the tape(s) heard by scholars approved by the Beckman Center subject to the restrictions listed below. The scholar pledges not to quote from, cite, or reproduce by any means this material except with the written permission of the Beckman Center.
  - I wish to place the following conditions that I have checked below upon the use of this interview. I understand that the Beckman Center will enforce my wishes until the time of my death, when any restrictions will be removed.

4.

No restrictions for access.

b. \_\_\_\_\_ My permission required to quote, cite, or reproduce.

My permission required for access to the entire document and all tapes.

This constitutes our entire and complete understanding.

(Signature) <u>Nov 14, 1989</u>

(Revised 20 February 1989)

This interview has been designated as Free Access.

One may view, quote from, cite, or reproduce the oral history with the permission of CHF.

*Please note*: Users citing this interview for purposes of publication are obliged under the terms of the Chemical Heritage Foundation Oral History Program to credit CHF using the format below:

Ernest H. Volwiler, interview by James J. Bohning at Lake Forest, Illinois, 18 August 1986 (Philadelphia: Chemical Heritage Foundation, Oral History Transcript # 0050).



The Chemical Heritage Foundation (CHF) serves the community of the chemical and molecular sciences, and the wider public, by treasuring the past, educating the present, and inspiring the future. CHF maintains a world-class collection of materials that document the history and heritage of the chemical and molecular sciences, technologies, and industries; encourages research in CHF collections; and carries out a program of outreach and interpretation in order to advance an understanding of the role of the chemical and molecular sciences, technologies, and industries; and industries in shaping society.

## ERNEST H. VOLWILER

1893 Born in Hamilton, Ohio on 22 August

# Education

1914	B.A., chemistry, Miami University
1916	M.A., chemistry, University of Illinois
1918	Ph.D., chemistry, University of illinois

# Professional Experience

1910-1911	Teacher, Reilly Township Public School, Butler County, Ohio
1913-1914	Teaching Assistant, Chemistry Department, Miami
	University
	University of Illinois
1914-1917	Teaching Assistant, Chemistry1915
Chemist, Orga	anic Chemical Manufacture (summer)
1916-1917	Chemist-in-Charge, Organic Chemical Manufacture
	(summer)
1917-1918	Fellow in Chemistry
	Abbott Laboratories
1918-1920	Research Chemist
1920-1930	Chief Chemist
1930-1933	Director of Research
1933-1946	Vice President, Research and Development
1946-1950	Executive Vice President
1950-1958	President and General Manager
1958	Chairman of the Board
1961-	Consultant (retired)
1951-1961	President, Abbott Laboratories Fund
1958-1961	President, The Abbott Foundation
1958-1961	Chairman of the Board, Abbott Laboratories
	International Co.
1958-1961	Chairman of the Board, Abbott Laboratories
	Universal, Ltd.

### Honors

Modern Pioneers Award
D.Sc. (Honorary), Miami University
Honor Scroll Award, American Institute of Chemists
D.Sc. (Honorary), Northwestern University
Centennial Award, Northwestern University
LL.D. (Honorary), Coe College
LL.D. (Honorary), Knox College
D.Sc. (Honorary), Philadelphia College of Pharmacy
and Science
Chemical Industry Award
Industrial Research Award
D.Med.Sc. (Honorary), Southwestern at Memphis
D.Sc. (Honorary), St. Louis College of Pharmacy and
Allied Sciences
Priestley Medal, American Chemical Society
Citation of Honor, Indiana Technical College
Sesquicentennial Award, Miami University
D.Sc. (Honorary), University of Illinois
Gold Medal Award, American Institute of Chemists
D.H.L. (Honorary), Lake Forest College
Inventors Hall of Fame

#### ABSTRACT

Ernest Volwiler begins this interview by briefly discussing his early years in Ohio, leading to college study at Miami University, where he first became interested in chemistry. He recollects the influence of faculty there and his wish to undertake graduate studies at the University of Illinois. The recounts the circumstances of his decision to proceed to the Ph.D. program after completion of his Master's degree. Research work with roger Adams and the summer organic chemicals production enterprise helped to introduce Volwiler to drug synthesis. His long career with Abbott laboratories started in organic synthesis, including some plant production responsibilities. Volwiler recalls Dr. Abbott as well as some of his fellow workers in the laboratories in the 1920s and 1930s. World War II saw the production of penicillin and company expansion. Volwiler was a member of the pharmaceutics investigating team sent to Germany immediately after the end of the war and he describes his experiences there. Post-war advancement led Volwiler to the presidency of Abbott Laboratories and he tells how he trimmed the production line and initiated development into new areas. His ACS activities culminated in his election as Society President in Volwiler ends his interview with Bohning by reflecting on 1950. the nature of the modern pharmaceutical industry.

#### INTERVIEWER

James J. Bohning holds the B.S., M.S., and Ph.D. degrees in chemistry, and has been a member of the chemistry faculty at Wilkes College since 1959. He was chair of the Chemistry Department for sixteen years, and was appointed chair of the Department of Earth and Environmental Sciences in 1988. He has been associated with the development and management of the oral history program at the Beckman Center since 1985, and was elected Chair of the Division of the History of Chemistry of the American Chemical Society for 1987.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1 Childhood and Early Schooling Growing up in Hamilton, Ohio. One-room schoolhouse and a small high school.
- 3 College Studies Courses and Faculty of Miami University. Laboratory studies and summer employment. Graduate study at the University of Illinois, research with Derick and Adams. The summer organic chemicals manufacturing program and introduction to drug synthesis.
- 12 Early Career with Abbott Laboratories Synthetic organic chemistry; plant production. Anesthetics. Recruitment of chemists for Abbott Laboratories. Colleagues and outside collaborators. Pharmacological testing. Drug synthesis, organization of research work, publications and patents.
- 23 World War II Activities Penicillin production. Development of antibiotics and the production of sulfa drugs. Company expansion. Fact-finding mission to Germany.
- 27 Post-war Career Growth of the pharmaceutical industry. ACS activities and Presidency of the Society. Trimming production line at Abbott as company president, development of new areas. Company acquisition in pharmaceutical industry, target strategies in research and development.
- 33 Notes
- 34 Index

#### NOTES

- Ernest H. Volwiler, "Recent Contributions of Chemistry to Medicine," <u>Industrial and Engineering Chemistry</u>, 15 (1923): 906-910.
- 2. "SCI Honors Volwiler," <u>Chemical and Engineering News</u>, 32 (1954): 4302.
- 3. See, for example, E. H. Volwiler and D. L. Tabern, "5,5-Substituted Barbituric Acids," Journal of the American <u>Chemical Society</u>, 52 (1930): 1676-1679. For a complete list of the publications of E. H. Volwiler see the research folder in The Beckman Center Oral History Program file #0050.
- 4. Ernest H. Volwiler and Arthur C. Cope, "Chemical Abstracts: Millstone or Milestone?" <u>Chemical and</u> Engineering News, 33 (1955): 2636-2639

INDEX

### Α

Abbott Laboratories, 11-16, 21, 23, 24, 26-31
Abbott, Wallace C., 12-14, 21, 30
ACS [American Chemical Society], 28
 meetings, 19, 22
 presidency, 28
Adams, Roger, 8, 9, 10, 12, 14, 15, 16, 22, 23
Agricultural chemicals, 26
Allied Chemical Company, 8, 26
Ault & Wiborg Company, 8
Analytical chemistry, 5
Anders, Paul, 7, 8
Anesthetics, 10, 14, 18, 31
Antibiotics, 23, 24
Antihistamines, 27
Anti-epileptics, 27

## в

Badische Anilin ünd Soda Fabrik AG, 25 Baeyer AG, 25 Baker, Dale, 28 Barbital, 10, 12, 14, 16 Barbituric acid and derivatives, 14, 16, 22 Biehn, Joseph F., 20 Bissel, Donald, 8 Blood plasma, 23, 24 Brill, Harvey, 3, 4 Buffalo, New York, 8 Burdick, Alfred S., 12, 20, 21, 29 Butesin, 14 Butin, 14 Butyl alcohol, 14

## C

```
Calcott, William S., 26
Career plans, 11
Chemical Abstracts, 28
Chicago, University of, 6, 15
Chloropicrin, 9
Cincinnati, Ohio, 8
Cincophen, 12
Clara Abbott Foundation, 30
Clough, S. Dewitt, 21
College courses,
   chemistry, 3
   German, 2
   history, 4
   laboratory, 3, 4
   mathematics, 4, 5
  physics, 4, 5
```

Consultants, academic, 15 Courses, college, 2-5 graduate, 7 Cromwell, Hobart W., 20 Culler, --, 5 Curtis, Francis J., 26 Cyclamate, 27

### D

Davis, A. B., 8 Decatur, Illinois, 3 Derick, Clarence, 6, 7, 8, 9 Diagnostics, 29 Dow Chemical Company, 30 Drugs, synthesis of, 10, 12, 13, 31 E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.Inc., 26, 27, 30 Dubois, Gaston F., 26 Düsseldorf, 27

## Е

Egan, James, 3, 4, 5 Equipment, laboratory, 14 production, 24 Erythromycins, 29

## F

Family, brother, 1, 2, 5 father, 1 mother, 1 sister, 1 Farming, 1 Fellowship, teaching, 5 Fogler, Mayor F., 26 Food and Drug Administration [FDA], 29 Frankfort, 27 Freeze-drying, 24

## G

Germany, mission to, 25-27 Gomberg, Moses, 15 Graduate courses, organic chemistry, 7 physical chemistry, 7 Gravimetric analysis, 5

### н

Hamilton, Ohio, 1 Harvard University, 5 Haught, John W., 26

Hessler, John C., 3 Hibbing, Minnesota, 5 High school, 1 Hoechst AG, 25 Howell, Lloyd, 6 Hypnotics, 10, 22, 31 Ι Illinois, University of, 3, 5, 6, 10, 14, 27 Industrial chemistry, 11 Interference, patent, 22 Iron analysis, 5 J Journals, scientific, 19 κ Kamm, Oliver, 10, 14 Kjeldahl flask, 9 L Leaper, Percy J., 26 Leffler, Marlin T., 22 Leverkusen, Germany, 25 Eli Lilly & Company, 8, 27 Lundy, John S., 17, 18 М Mallinckrodt & Company, 11 Manufacturing, organic chemicals [Illinois], 8, 9 Marvel, Carl S., 10 Mayo Clinic, 17, 18 Merck & Company, Inc., 22, 23 Miami University, 2-6 Michigan, University, 5, 15 Millikin University, 3 Monsanto Company, 26, 31 Moore, Marjorie B., 22 Munich, 27 Ν National Aniline & Chemical Company, 8, 9 Nembutal, 17, 18 Neonal, 16 Nielsen, Carl, 20, 22 0 Oberfell, George G., 3 Oliver Iron Mining Company, 5 OSRD [Office of Scientific Research and Development], 23

Ρ

Parke, Davis & Company, 22 Patents, 22, 24 Penicillin, 19, 23 Pentothal, 18, 22 Pesticides, 25 Pharmaceutical industry, 13, 19, 23, 30 Pharmacological testing, 17 Pharmacologists, 17, 19 Phenacetin, 13, 30 Phillips Petroleum Company, 3 Phosphorus compounds, 26 Phosphorus pentachloride, 9 Physiological action, 19 Ph.D. program, 7, 10, 11 Potterf, --, 6 Pressure vessel, 14 Princeton University, 5 Procaine, 10, 12, 14

## R

Radioisotopes, 16, 29 Reilly Township School, 2 Research committee [Abbott Laboratories], 20 Research staff [Abbott Laboratories], 20 Rindfusz, Ralph E., 6

### S

Schroeder, --, 25, 26 Sedatives, 18, 31 Smadel, Joseph E., 26 Squibb Corporation, 23 Stieglitz, Julius, 15, 16 Streptomycin, 23 Sucaryl, 27 Sulfa drugs, 24 Sulfadiazine, 24 Sulfanilamide, 24 Sulfathiazole, 24 Sulfur, replacement of oxygen, 18 Summer school, college, 2, 3 Summers, S. Lewis, 13, 30 Synthesis, drug, 10, 12, 13, 31 Synthetic organic chemists, 12, 15

### т

Tabern, Donalee, 16, 18, 22, 29
Tatum, Arthur L., 17
Teaching, high school, 2, 5
Teaching assistantship [Illinois], 7
Thesis,
 masters, 7
 Ph.D., 11
Toxic substances, 9, 26

Trimethylene oxide, 7

## U

U.S. Steel Company, 5

## v

Vitamins, 21, 22 Vliet, Elmer, 13

## W

Wabash College, 6
War gases, 25, 26
Washburn, Edward W., 7
Waters, Ralph M., 18
Whitcomb, William H., 3
White, Lester M., 26
Wisconsin, University of, 17
 Medical School, 18
World War II, 23, 24